
 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
1 

CITY OF ESPAÑOLA 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, MAY 14, 2006, 6:00 P.M. 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

405 PASEO DE OÑATE, ESPAÑOLA NEW MEXICO 
 
Mayor Maestas called the meeting to order at 6:13 p.m. with the following present: 
  
Mayor   Joseph M. Maestas 
Mayor Pro Tem Alice Lucero 
Councilors  Danielle Duran 

Rosario “Chayo” Garcia 
Cecelia Lujan 
Alfred Herrera 
Helen Kain Salazar 
Eddie Maestas 
Dennis Tim Salazar (absent) 

 
City Manager  Gustavo Cordova 
City Clerks  Veronica Martinez 
   Lucas Gauthier 
 
City Attorney  Angela Pacheco 
 
Staff   Susan Trujillo 

Josie Lujan 
Stephanie Martinez 
Julian Gonzales 
Bernadine Martinez 
Marvin Martinez 
Louis Lujan 
Rick Vigil 
Anthony “Hawk” Trujillo 
Ivan Guillen 
Leroy Garcia 
Cyrus Samii 

 
Mayor Maestas led the Pledge of Allegiance and the invocation. Mayor Maestas prayed for the 
National Guard members from the community who had been deployed to Iraq as well as for the 
speedy recovery of Councilor Salazar. Councilor Kain-Salazar prayed for Housing 
Commissioner Dorothy Borrego’s daughter. 
 

Approval of Agenda: 
 
Mayor Maestas presented the agenda for approval. 
 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND INVOCATION 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 

1. Acequia de los Vigiles  

COUNCILOR COMMENTS 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

2. April 9, 2007  

BUSINESS WITH VISITORS 
3. Hepatitis C Information Presentation 
4. North Central Solid Waste Authority Presentation of Facility Plans  

PROCLAMATIONS AND AWARDS OF MERIT  
5. Presentation to the Governing Body by Youth Against Drugs  
6. Employee of the Month  
7. Proclamation Declaring National Dance Institute Week 
8. Proclamation Declaring Support of the Falun Gong  

MATTERS FROM THE MAYOR 
9. Appointment of Housing Board Members  
10. Appointment of Library Board Members  



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
2 

11. Appointment of Ethics Board  

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL 
12. City of Española Procurement Policy  
13. Award of Contract for Architectural Services (RFP 2007-2)  
14. Award of Contract for Engineering Services (RFP 07-03)  
15. Approval of the Fiesta Council Budget and Budget Adjustment Request  
16. Budget Adjustment Request to NM DOT Projects Fund  
17. Budget Adjustment Request to Capital Coop Agreement Fund  
18. Speed Hump Policy  

RESOLUTIONS 
19. Resolution 2007-27 – A Resolution Authorizing Participation in the North Central 

New Mexico Economic Development District  
20. Resolution 2007-28 – A Resolution Reorganizing the Meetings of the Governing 

Body of the City of Española  
21. Resolution 2007-29 – City of Española Open Meetings Resolution  
22. Resolution 2007-30 – A Resolution in Support of and Authorizing the Submission 

of the City of Española’s GRIP II Project Application  
23. Resolution 2007-31 – A Joint Resolution for Cooperation with Santa Fe County 

for a Community Water and Wastewater Project in the Sombrillo Area  

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
24.  Public Works  
25. Community Development  
26. Public Safety  
27. Public Housing Update  

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
Mayor Maestas requested that items 5 & 6 be moved to be heard after the approval of the agenda 
and to postpone the ethics board nominations to the May 21, 2007 City Council meeting. 
Councilor Herrera also recommended changing the order of items 13 and 14 to be reversed. 
 

Councilor Kain-Salazar made a motion to approve the agenda as amended, seconded by 
Councilor Maestas. 
 
Motion carried 7/0. 
 

PROCLAMATIONS AND AWARDS OF MERIT 
 
Presentation to the Governing Body by Youth Against Drugs: 
 
Mr. Efren Sanchez, the Youth Against Drugs Coordinator, along with Richard Marquez and 
Monica Lovato presented a plaque of appreciation to the City and the City Council for 
participating in the Youth Against Drugs pilgrimage to Chimayo. Mr. Sanchez stated that despite 
the bad weather there were dedicated participants, including some of the council members, 
Monica Lovato and many other community members. Mr. Sanchez thanked Councilor Salazar, 
Mayor Maestas, Councilor Herrera, Councilor Maestas, Councilor Kain-Salazar, Mayor Pro Tem 
Lucero, and offered a special thanks to Julian Gonzales and Judge Salazar for their support of the 
event. Mr. Sanchez also recognized Stephanie Martinez for all the hard work she contributed and 
said that if it was these people and the committee that made it a success. Mr. Sanchez stated that 
the first year there was just a few participants, and that the event had grown each year; and that 
this year there were 1,053 walking. Mr. Sanchez added that the other supporters who made the 
event possible were the District Attorney’s office, the National Guard, the Rock Christian 
Fellowship, El Buen Pastor, McCurdy School, Holy Cross Church and Holy Family Church. Mr. 
Sanchez presented a plaque to Judge Salazar as well, saying that he works hard for the 
community along with Richard Marquez who always offers his selfless work. Mr. Sanchez 
expressed his appreciation and a plaque to Monica Lovato for being a supporter and role model 
to the community. 
  
Mayor Maestas stated that he appreciated everyone’s effort and support of the event adding that 
the event sends a clear message both in and outside the community that drugs have no place in 
the community. Mayor Maestas also recognized Monica Lovato as she was a champion of the 
community and symbolizes a message for our youth to stay away from drugs. Mayor Maestas 
stated he and the Governing Body were proud of her and that at her last fight, the community of 
Española showed their strong support. Monica thanked all who attended her last fight, adding 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
3 

that she was very busy with work, training, and the youth boxing program, which she does for 
the kids to show them that they can make their dreams come true if they work hard. Ms. Lovato 
also acknowledged many of the people in the community who are working to be role models in 
the community as well.   
 

Employee of the Month 
 
Judge Salazar had nominated Andrew Herrera as the Employee of the month. Judge Salazar 
stated that Andrew was currently his security guard as well as the City’s graffiti officer and the 
award of Employee of the Month was a long time coming. Judge Salazar stated that Andrew was 
very deserving of the award, adding that recently Andrew had applied and was granted a Clean 
and Beautiful Grant to help with the City’s anti-graffiti program and has done a wonderful job.  
Judge Salazar presented the award to Andrew who accepted it with his wife and daughter. 
 
Andrew stated that he had worked with the City since 1997, recently with the court and the 
graffiti program. Andrew added that they had seen a decrease in the graffiti through the hotline, 
but they were also making an education effort in the community.  Andrew stated that part of that 
program was to implement the “Canvas” artwork to allow artists to display their work, such as 
the mural on the La Joya Fire Station, and Councilor Duran’s wall. Andrew announced that there 
would be an art show of these muralists beginning May 24th at the Mision Museum, adding that 
this was an opportunity for graffiti artists to show their work in a positive way.   
 
Councilor Herrera stated that he was proud of the good job Andrew had done, and commended 
the canvas program and the art show, as it could instill in the youth a sense of pride to change the 
expression of their talents from bad behavior into something positive the way art work should be 
displayed.   
 
Proclamation Declaring National Dance Institute Week 
 
Leslie Stamper and Russell Baker from National Dance Institute (NDI) were present with a 
group of NDI student participants to accept the Proclamation. City Attorney Angela Pacheco 
assisted the Mayor in recognizing the program, as she works with NDI as a lighting technician 
for their performances, she introduced the “SWAT” and “Celebration” teams. Ms. Pacheco 
stated that there were approximately 500 kids in Northern New Mexico schools who participate 
in the program and put on a year-end performance, which would be held on May 17-18, 2007.  
Ms. Pacheco stated that parents are a big part of the commitment adding that Sergeant Christian 
Lopez would be performing with the groups in the year-end performance.  Mayor Maestas read 
the proclamation into the record declaring May 14-19 as “National Dance Institute Week.” 
 
Ms. Stamper said it was a wonderful honor and thanked the Governing Body for the 
proclamation. One of the student participants presented the Mayor with an NDI t-shirt and 
thanked him. 
 

Proclamation Declaring Support of the Falun Gong 
 
Mayor Maestas asked if there were representatives from the Falun Gong spiritual movement 
present. A gentleman from the Falun Gong movement was presented with the Proclamation and 
expressed gratitude for the proclamation. The gentlemen made a brief presentation regarding the 
health benefits of the practice and the persecution of those who practice it by the Chinese 
government. 
 
Mayor Maestas read the proclamation into the record declaring May 14 as Falun Dafa Day. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Acequia de los Vigiles – Mr. Martinez had to leave, so this item was moved to the May 21 
meeting. 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
4 

COUNCILOR COMMENTS 
 
Councilor Maestas asked to make a brief statement, he stated that during the campaign the 
candidates promised things would be different and that they would have an open government.  
Councilor Maestas stated that in light of what had recently occurred he would be referring 
himself to the ethics board. Councilor Maestas apologized for his mistake and for any 
embarrassment it may have caused to the Governing Body and staff. 
 
Councilor Herrera thanked Councilor Maestas for his candor, boldness and willingness to 
continue moving forward with the Governing Body’s campaign promises.  Councilor Herrera 
thanked him for owning up to the issue. Councilor Herrera stated that it was a symbolic gesture 
that should not go unrecognized.  Councilor Herrera stated that everyone makes mistakes, but the 
importance was living up to the commitment of moving the city forward by doing the necessary 
things to make that happen. Councilor Herrera added it was good that Councilor Maestas was 
maintaining the integrity of the Council’s mission. 
 
Councilor Lujan commented that she appreciated the ownership Councilor Maestas took, adding 
that when they campaigned, Eddie was always thinking of the community’s seniors, the soup 
kitchen and stated that he had a heart of gold. Councilor Kain-Salazar stated it took a big person 
to admit when they were wrong, and commended Councilor Maestas for taking the blame and 
doing what’s right.  Mayor Maestas also thanked Councilor Maestas for the truthfulness in 
admitting he made a mistake; that it sends a message to the youth, the community and the 
employees that principals and ethics are important in what we do and say, and if we are not true 
to those principals and ethics, we are not who we say we are. Mayor Maestas stated that 
Councilor Maestas was upholding ethics and accountability by his action to refer himself to the 
Board. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Mayor Maestas presented the minutes of April 9, 2007 for approval.  
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion to approve the minutes as presented, seconded by 
Councilor Lujan. 
 
The motion passed 7/0.   
 

BUSINESS WITH VISITORS 
 
Hepatitis C Information Presentation 
 
Dan Burke and April Grisetti-Nail, P.A., were present to give a brief presentation on Hepatitis C 
and their work in the community in combination with UNM Hospital. Ms. Grisetti-Nail reported 
that in their facility they work to treat and cure the disease.  A proclamation was presented at the 
previous meeting and Ms. Grisetti announced that a program would be held on May 17 and 
asked for the proclamation to be presented to them then. Ms. Grisetti-Nail gave a brief 
presentation on the subject of hepatitis C in the community. Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that 
she would be present to present the Proclamation for Hepatitis C Awareness. 
 
North Central Solid Waste Authority Presentation of Facility Plans  
 
Joe Lewindowski of the North Central Solid Waste Authority (NCSWA) stated that this was a 
continuation of discussion from the previous meeting on the status of the Environmental Gross 
Receipts Tax (EGRT) and the financing of their new solid waste facility. Mr. Lewindowski 
stated that the consideration of the release of the EGRT to the Authority was the issue at hand 
and they needed the project to move forward. Mr. Lewindowski stated that provide top the 
Governing Body in the packet was information regarding the commitments previously made by 
the City regarding the EGRT, and the obligations of the funds to be used for the solid waste 
facility. Mr. Lewindowski outlined the history of the EGRT and the agreements made upon the 
creation of the NCSWA as well as the current plans for the facility including financing 
requirements. Mr. Lewindowski explained that the City had been able to retain the funds up to 
this point as it was intended only for the construction of the new facility. Mr. Lewindowski 
stated that the information provided outlined the benefits of the NCSWA to the City and the 
money saved in the time that the Authority had been operating.  Mayor Maestas stated that since 
the last meeting, many open-ended issues had been discussed, and he asked Mr. Cordova if the 
issue could be put to rest and allow the Authority to move forward on the facility.  Mr. Cordova 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
5 

stated he did not have any dispute of the commitments made by the Joint Powers Agreement or 
the Memorandum of Agreement between the City and the Authority, but that unfortunately, the 
City had incurred financial obligations against the EGRT in the amount of $245,000 per year. 
Gus Cordova stated that recognized that the commitment that had been made by the city was 
binding upon this council, adding that while the city would pledge the EGRT, the actual intercept 
amount would be a proportionate share, yet to be determined. Mr. Cordova stated that at that 
point he would recommend to the council how to proceed.  Mayor Maestas asked for an 
explanation of the $245,000 debt as it exceeded the EGRT revenue.  Mr. Cordova explained that 
the funds were being used in part of the refunded bonds that are being paid by the city.  Mayor 
Maestas asked how much of the EGRT had been pledged to those bonds.  Mr. Cordova stated 
that in the operating budget that would be presented, the EGRT funds were not obligated to any 
debt, but it was still important to know what proportion they would be of the new NMFA debt.  
Mayor Maestas asked what amount needed to be made up.  Mr. Lewandowski stated that it 
would be based on what is actually utilized and the return of the revenues so it could not be 
determined just yet.   
 
Councilor Herrera expressed his thanks to all who worked on the solid waste project. Councilor 
Herrera asked that the EGRT issue be put to rest and allow the authority to move forward with 
the work they need to do. Councilor Herrera added that the community was the beneficiaries of 
the project and the city would move forward and honor its commitments.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero agreed that the project needed to move forward.  Mayor Maestas echoed 
Councilor Herrera’s comments stating that the NCSWA was important for the community and 
that the authority had proven that it provides consistent service and has served the community 
well. Councilor Duran stated that she was excited about the recycling program that would be 
included in the new facility, adding that the Governing Body had discussed with many other 
governments and wanted to bring a recycling program to the community. Mr. Lewindowski 
suggested an amendment to the existing ordinance to allow the City to use EGRT revenues for 
all environmental issues including water, sewer, and etc. 
 

MATTERS FROM THE MAYOR 
 

Housing Commission Members Appointment 
 
Councilor Maestas spoke on behalf of the nominees, stating that Frances Lopez was a good 
candidate and that Dorothy was a very conscientious. 
 

Councilor Maestas moved to approve the appointments, seconded by Councilor Duran, 
Councilor Lujan, and Mayor Pro Tem Lucero. 
 
The motion passed 7/0. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero commented that it takes a lot of commitment to serve on the Housing 
Authority and stated that she was sure that both appointees would be committed and would serve 
well. Ms. Lopez stated that she hoped she could be a help to commission and the City in any way 
she could.  Ms. Borrego addressed the council, thanking them for her renewed appointment, 
stating that she was committed to the Housing Authority and the City of Española. 
 
Mayor Maestas stated that when the Housing Authority is out of trouble status he would 
celebrate, as that is the goal of the commission and the Governing Body. Mayor Maestas added 
that he was looking forward to them both serving. 
 
Library Board Appointments: 
 
Mayor Maestas stated there were three recommendations to the Library Board that were solicited 
from all councilors.  Mayor Maestas stated that the Council recommended Beulah Sandoval, 
Daniel Roybal and Marie Mc Clard to fill the three vacancies.  
 

Councilor Herrera made the motion to approve the nominations as presented by Mayor 
Maestas, seconded by Councilor Kain-Salazar. 
 
Motion passed 5/0. (CAL and CM stepped out) 
 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
6 

 
Procurement Policy: 
 
Bernadine Martinez presented this item. Ms. Martinez stated that changes requested by the City 
Attorney and the Governing Body had been made to the Procurement Policy. Ms. Martinez state 
that the changes included; 
 

1. Changes made to section 11.6.3 Per Diem, strike thru “paid at rates established by the 
state”, leaving “See Exhibit 2.” 

2. On the Purchase-Card, eliminated 1.B – Fuel – will use Right Express for those 
purchases and that a contract had been prepared.  The fuel will be tied to each vehicle. 

 
Councilor Herrera asked about the P-Card, how was responsible and who could use it. Ms. 
Martinez clarified that the card would be issued in the name of the department head and the city 
would not incur fees for using the card. The P-cards will be issued by Bank of America on State 
contract to the City. Councilor Herrera asked how the card issuers would make money if there 
were no fees and no interest, asking what the City would be obligated for.  Mayor Maestas asked 
how prompt payment would be ensured.  Ms. Martinez stated that the City Manager would have 
to be on top of each department head to ensure that they submit their statements for payment. 
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to approve the policy with the suggested amendments, 
seconded by Councilor Duran. 
 
Under discussion, Councilor Garcia stated she was still leery about the P-Card, not knowing the 
fees involved, stating she would like to know the fees and who would be held responsible. Ms. 
Martinez stated she would provide that information to the Governing Body. 
 
Councilor Herrera stated that in a section he had read, vendor preference was mentioned, and 
asked Ms. Martinez where the central office was and how do they apply for local preference. 
Councilor Herrera stated that the way the section reads could be confusing to as where the 
vendor must register be it with State Procurement or with the City. Ms. Martinez stated that the 
vendor would register with the City’s Finance Department. A Friendly amendment was accepted. 
Councilor Duran suggested that the Vendor registration policy be added to the website to allow 
vendors to register and to view procurement.   
 
Mayor Maestas stated that the new policy was a long time coming and moved the city in the right 
direction following our audit and to do better business, adding that the enforcement of the policy 
would be what will make it succeed. Mayor Maestas stated that the P-card recipients must be 
held accountable and ensure policy is followed to the letter. 
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Award of RFP –2007-03: 
 
Bernadine Martinez presented on this item, stating that the committee had met twice and 
recommended that Sauder Miller and Associates be used as the professional consulting service 
for engineering services. Councilor Herrera stated that he had spent a lot of time looking at the 
particular proposal and the committee’s recommendation and more and more questions would 
arise. Councilor Herrera stated that some questions raised included that the current contractor has 
work underway and continuity of changing to a new contractor, and how the rating was done. 
Councilor Herrera stated that he questioned how the committee scored the proposed entity and 
how could they be rated higher, 24 out of 25, for knowledge with a system in the city when they 
have very limited knowledge of the system and the current contractor has done all the work. 
Councilor Herrera stated that in the RFP there was a reference to the issue of current volume of 
work and Sauder Miller scored 10 and the current engineer Molzen~Corbin & Associates scored 
5 adding that the scores did not make sense. Councilor Herrera stated that the RFP included the 
issue of less than 75% complete, and stated that it seemed like a punitive gesture against 
potential bidders. Councilor Herrera added that he had looked at info provided by 
Molzen~Corbin & Associates and its arsenic abatement project, stating that when he reviewed 
procurement code, the issue is very clear and they did perform the basic design services. 
Councilor Herrera asked why the RFP requested services from an engineering firm. Councilor 
Herrera stated that the City should ask for it separately adding that it is a financial accounting 
service. Councilor Herrera stated that while it may only relate to engineering services, the RFP 
asks for grant services to every department in the city, not just those tied to the engineering 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
7 

services. Councilor Herrera stated that the Grant Administration and oversight of grants should 
be the responsibility of the Administrative Services Department. Councilor Herrera also stated 
that according to State Procurement any time a local public body tries to procure services the 
entity must have a staff member that is a licensed engineer or architect to act as a technical 
advisor to participate in the evaluation of the proposals. Councilor Herrera asked City Attorney 
Angela Pacheco of her professional opinion on the matter. Ms. Pacheco cited State Statute 13-1-
117.2 states “ Any local public body which does not have on staff a licensed professional 
engineer, surveyor, architect or landscape architect shall have appointed to it or have the 
appointment waived by the appropriate New Mexico professional society listed in Subsection D 
of this section, an individual to serve as a professional technical advisor. The professional 
technical advisor shall be a senior member of an architectural, engineering, surveying or 
landscape architectural business with experience appropriate to the type of local public works 
project proposed and shall be a resident licensed architect, professional engineer, surveyor or 
landscape architect in the state who possesses at least ten years of experience in responsible 
charge as defined in the Architectural Act [61-5-1.1 NMSA 1978], the Engineering and 
Surveying Practice Act [61-23-1 NMSA 1978] or the Landscape Architects Act [61-24B-1 
NMSA 1978], respectively.”, adding that her interpretation of the language “shall have”, is 
mandatory and that after pondering all day based on the language it suggested that the council 
hold on awarding the contract in order to give time to clarify how this impacts further awards. 
Mr. Cordova stated that the purpose of the technical advisor is to assist the city in preparing the 
RFP and evaluating the RFP’s. Mr. Cordova stated that with regard to current projects, the RFP 
allows the council to award the contract to one or more respondents, for example, those projects 
that are already being done the contractor could continue those projects and for new projects the 
City could use either firm. Mr. Cordova stated that the staff desires to work with the other 
engineering firm as well, and could award multiple contracts to bidders.  Mayor Maestas stated 
that he agreed with Councilor Herrera’s comments on the grant management issue, he added that 
the City was trying to hire a grants administrator, and that the City did have a Public Works 
Director position to fill that would provide for the City to have a Professional Engineer. Mayor 
Maestas stated that apart from scoring, there are fundamental issues to look at, including whether 
to have and engineer on staff.  Councilor Herrera stated that this discussion had previously 
occurred, and this is the opportune time to look at what is more cost effective with engineering 
services. Councilor Herrera stated both positions have their pros and cons. Councilor Herrera 
suggested that at this point the Governing Body table the issue, asking what would their action 
do to the administration and to the current engineer. Councilor Herrera asked if the existing 
contracts time lines gave the City room to look further into the issue. Mr. Cordova stated that 
most of the existing work was contracted by Molzen~Corbin and Associates was ongoing and 
that will go on to be completed. Mr. Cordova stated that if the council does not approve the staff 
recommendations, then the city would have to go to RFP for each project. Mr. Cordova added 
that firms are the best alternative since they can provide the engineering and the consulting and 
oversight services.  
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to table the action and ask staff to go back and review 
the process that was followed and come back with a recommendation, seconded by Mayor 
Pro Tem Lucero.   
 

Mayor Maestas recused himself from the vote. Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Award of RFP -2007-02 Architectural Services 
 

Bernadine outlined the proposals received and made the staff’s recommendation to award the 
RFP to Molzen~Corbin and Associates for Public Safety and Senior Center work and De La 
Torre for the Convento y Mision Plaza work.   
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion to accept the staff’s recommendations, seconded by 
Councilor Duran. 
 
Motion passed 6/1 – Councilor Herrera voted no.  
 
Councilor Herrera stated that in light of the procurement and policy issues raised he could not 
bring himself to accept the recommendation of the staff, adding he had mixed feelings since they 
were appropriations he wanted to get done. 
 

Fiesta Council Budget and BAR 
 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
8 

Shaya Lopez and Josie Lujan presented this item before council.  Ms. Lujan presented the budget 
and the $58,100 projected revenues by fundraising stating that the expenditures were also based 
on those events.  Ms. Lujan asked the Governing Body for permission to amend the budget 
through DFA. Ms. Lopez stated that she was conservative in her figures and that there could be 
added expenditures if the plaza gazebo is not constructed in time requiring the procurement of 
tents.  Mayor Maestas asked why the budget did not include the state appropriation. Ms. Lujan 
stated that the Fiesta Council did not budget the appropriation since there had been nothing 
stating in writing that it had been issued, adding that it will be used for next year. Councilor 
Herrera stated that it was important to work with the fiesta council to set up the internal controls 
to make sure that “field” issues are not out of the city’s control.  For example, how will ticket 
sales be handled, assigned, and controlled.  Ms. Lopez stated that that has been taken into 
consideration stating that the Treasurer was working directly with Josie. Ms. Lopez announced 
that on June 8 Onate and La Reina would be announced at the Ohkay Owingeh dome. Councilor 
Garcia stated that last year the Fiesta’s cost $63,000. Ms. Lopez stated that they are not going 
overboard and that they are trying to do more with less. Mayor Maestas thanked Ms. Lopez for 
stepping forward to serve as President of the Fiesta Council. 
 

Councilor Garcia made a motion to approve the Fiesta Council budget and BAR as 
presented by Ms. Lopez and Ms. Lujan, seconded by Councilor Maestas and Councilor 
Duran. 
 
Under discussion Mayor Pro Tem Lucero thanked Chayo, Shaya and those who had worked on 
the budget, adding that she felt accountability was solid. Councilor Garcia stated that it was the 
hard work of both Councilor Maestas and Councilor Kain-Salazar that has assisted the Fiesta 
Council. 

 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero asked Ivan Guillen to give an update on the gazebo. Mr. Guillen stated 
that the project went out to bid and he had only received one bid and that they were ready to 
award the contract, but after meeting with the contractor, the contractor felt that he could not 
produce the work for the bid price. Mr. Guillen stated that he met with the contractor to negotiate 
the contract but the contractor made it evident he felt he would not make money on the project.  
Mr. Guillen stated that he has started to look at options. Mr. Guillen stated that he had been in 
contact with the contractor who performed the repairs on the roof of the Police Department, and 
the contractor informed Mr. Guillen that he was a GSA contractor and that he would send an 
associate to review the plans for the gazebo and propose a quote to do the work. Mr. Guillen 
stated that the representative he spoke with seemed confident they could do the work in time. 
Mayor Maestas stated that the City has run into bad luck but have consulted with Ivan and 
others, and having to re-advertise would not make it possible to get the gazebo built in time. 
Mayor Maestas asked for input from the Council, because having to re-bid would postpone 
construction to after the fiestas. Councilor Garcia stated that for safety, the construction would 
have to be postponed. Councilor Duran asked if it was required to re-bid according to the 
procurement policy or if the City could use a State contractor GSA. Mr. Guillen stated that he 
had looked into it, but there were not any construction contractors on state contract, and in 
looking at GSA contracts he had come across Tremco who did the roof at the Police Department.  
Mr. Guillen stated that if the proposed quote were within the budget, the procurement code 
would allow the City to use them. Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that if it would be possible to 
finish construction by fiestas to go with Tremco, but otherwise, go out to bid again and do it after 
the fiestas. Ms. Lopez stated that the Fiesta Council had been planning other activities to do at 
the Plaza but if the gazebo was done the week before and the site was safe, it would be fine. 
Councilor Kain-Salazar asked Mr. Guillen to notify the Fiesta Council as soon as possible, 
stating that they have to order tents and need a definite answer.  Mayor Maestas apologized for 
the inconvenience to the fiesta council and asked Mr. Guillen to please let all the council know 
what the outcome is with the proposed use of Tremco. 
 

Budget Adjustment Request to the NMDOT Projects Fund (304) 
 
Susan Trujillo presented on this item, stating that she was requesting a B.A.R to the final budget 
to create a fund to allow the City to separate the matching funds required by the DOT for 
projects to account 304.  
 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
9 

Councilor Herrera asked Susan Trujillo what the amount of the BAR was. Susan Trujillo stated 
that she could not say right off hand because of the increases and decreases to the accounts. 
Susan Trujillo  
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to approve DFA Resolution #6 to increase revenues by 
$684,000 and increase expenditures $384,681.94, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Lucero.  
 
Under discussion, Councilor Herrera stated that the use of the appropriations has allowed the city 
to make improvements to the city streets with this money. Hawk Trujillo listed the streets that 
had already been paved and improved with this money, adding that the crews were able to repair 
and repave a lot of streets. Councilor Herrera stated that he had been hearing good things about 
the progress, thanks to Hawk. Councilor Lujan voiced one concern, stating that now that streets 
have been repaved citizens are now speeding. 
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero thanked Hawk and his crews and stated that if there were funds left over, 
she’d like to see repairs made to N. McCurdy and Mountain View.  
 

BAR to Capital Coop Agreement: 
 
Susan Trujillo presented this item stating that it was also for the 304 funds, of an additional 
adjustment of $50,000. 
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to approve BAR to the Capital Cooperative Agreement 
as presented by Mrs. Trujillo, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Lucero. 
 
Motion passed 6/1.  Councilor Garcia voted no. 
 
Councilor Duran stated that the presentation by Susan Trujillo made it too difficult to make a 
decision and recommend that she work on her presentation skills. 
 
Speed Hump Policy: 
 
Anthony “Hawk” Trujillo presented this item before council. Mr. Trujillo stated that the 
proposed policy had been presented to Public Works Committee and with the recommended 
improvements having been made, that it has been recommended with a do-pass to council.  
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero thanked “Hawk” for his work on the Speed Hump Policy, stating that 
she did give a do-pass recommendation.   
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion to approve the Speed Hump Policy as presented by 
Mr. Trujillo, seconded by both Councilor Lujan and Councilor Garcia. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution 2007-27 Authorizing Participation in the North Central New Mexico Economic 
Development District: 
 
Mr. Cordova stated that the proposed Resolution is the approval to pay dues required for the City 
to participate in the North Central Economic Development District (NCEDD), which requires a 
$1320 membership.  
 

Councilor Maestas made a motion to approve Resolution 2007-27 as presented by Mr. 
Cordova, seconded by Councilor Herrera.   
 
Under discussion, Councilor Herrera asked for clarification of the section under “be it further 
resolved.” whether it refers to such concurrence to be effective until rescinded or if the 
membership would require to be renewed annually. Mr. Cordova stated that the fees were based 
on an active membership. Mr. Cordova added that the NCEDD could assist the City with 
applications, make recommendations to the CDBG, and assist with ICIP annual reports. 
Councilor Herrera stated that he would like to have it answered whether the membership must be 
rescinded or it requires annual renewal. 



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
10 

 
Mayor Maestas stated that he had concerns with the NCEDD, stating that it was too large to 
provide to this region. Gus Cordova stated that the NCEDD focuses on the tri-county area of Los 
Alamos, Santa Fe and Rio Arriba counties, this one is too big to represent our area. Mayor 
Maestas stated that other Council of Governments provided so many other services and he did 
not see the same level of service. Mayor Maestas stated that in the next year the NCEDD could 
possibly restructure this district to be an economic region. 
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-28 – Reorganizing the Meeting Schedule of the Governing Body: 
 
Gus presented Resolution 2007-28 reorganization to the meeting schedule for the Governing 
Body of the City of Española. Mr. Cordova stated that it was discussed during the Governing 
Body’s retreat the following changes of staff and council meetings:   

• A Workshop the third Monday of the month would allow an opportunity for Council 
Members to hear an item from a member and can include it on an agenda.  

• The fourth Tuesday is the regular meeting.  

• The standing committees would become Ad Hoc in nature. 
   

Councilor Lujan made a motion to approve Resolution 2007-28 as presented by Gus 
Cordova, seconded by CKS.  
 
Under discussion, Councilor Herrera stated that amending the Council Meeting schedule was a 
step in the right direction. Councilor Herrera stated that he had one concern how finance issues 
would be handled, since early on the Governing Body made a conscience decision to establish a 
Board of Finance to make strict financial accountability. Councilor Herrera stated that he would 
like to see a financial ad hoc committee be established to work on specific issues, such as the 
audit, for example.  
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-29 – Open Meetings Resolution: 
 
City Clerk Veronica Martinez presented the updated Open Meetings Act Resolution in light of 
the new meeting schedule. Mayor Maestas asked if the Governing Body could have other venues 
for meetings. Ms. Martinez stated that the Governing Body could meet given proper notice to 
post the meeting publicly.  
 

Councilor Duran made a motion to approve Resolution 2007-29 as presented by Ms. 
Martinez, seconded by Councilor Kain-Salazar.  
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-30- In Support of, and authorizing the submission of the City’s GRIP II 
Project Application:  
 
Cyrus Samii presented on this item, stating that that the resolution would give staff the 
authorization to submit an application to the Highway Department that would require a 
$1,000,000 match for GRIP II funds. Mr. Samii stated that the DOT wanted to get the bonds 
done adding that this would start the planning phase. 
 
Councilor Herrera asked where the match was coming from. Mr. Samii stated that the allowed 
right of way and improvements within local match, adding that 1 mi. with right of way would 
give us the match. Mr. Samii stated that the City has also applied for Coop and MAP for 
Industrial Park Rd. improvements and that the City would have more than enough with the 
combined effort. 
 

Councilor Kain-Salazar made a motion to approve the Resolution as presented by Mr. 
Samii, seconded by Councilor Maestas. 
 
Under discussion Mayor Pro Tem Lucero thanked Mayor Maestas for saving the project, adding 
that it would be a great benefit to the City. Mayor Maestas stated that Russell Naranjo did a great 
job to get the application and questionnaire done quickly.   



 

City Council Meeting May 14, 2007 
11 

 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-31 – Joint Resolution with Santa Fe County for a Community Water and 
Wastewater Project in the Sombrillo Area: 
 
MR. Samii presented this resolution to the Governing Body, stating that the Resolution is 
between the City of Espanola and Santa Fe County and its joint effort to provide Water and 
Wastewater to residents in the Sombrillo area. Mayor Maestas stated that Wastewater line was 
not proposed for the Sombrillo area only the water line. Mayor Maestas added that it might be 
beneficial as a placeholder for future projects, but not specifically referencing the 84/285 right of 
way.  Mayor Pro Tem Lucero asked if the DOT couldn’t do the sleeves for wastewater that the 
DOT stated they would do for the City. Mayor Maestas stated that there was a consideration of 
having the wastewater go down Walnut Dr. in the future.   
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to approve Resolution 2007-31 as presented by Mr. 
Samii, seconded by Councilor Duran. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that there was an upcoming special meeting for Ordinance review. 
 
Councilor Duran stated that a YMCA rep discussed the program with the Community 
Development Committee, and the future need for property use for the city. Councilor Duran 
asked for a toolbox to respond to requests for use of property. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that the Public Safety Committee was cancelled for 5/17. 
 
Councilor Maestas stated that the Public Housing Committee would meet on 5-15-07 at 6:00 
p.m. 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Councilor Herrera stated that there would be a “Run for the Wall”, bike rally to include 300 
bikers at the Veteran’s Wall on Friday.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Councilor Lujan mad a motion to adjourn, seconded by Councilor Duran. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
 Adjourned at 9:08 p.m. 
 

Electronic Copy – Signatures on File 
 
Transcribed by 
Lucas Gauthier 


